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Author’s Note


Where place names have a common rendering in English, I have used them, such as Majorca, Navarre, Seville, Aragon, Cordova, Catalonia, and Saragossa. Where today’s maps show Basque or Catalan town or street names, I have nonetheless used the Spanish version when that is how the name appears in writings from the civil war era; hence Guernica, Marsa, the Ramblas, and so on. Some errors in Spanish words or phrases quoted by American journalists and volunteers have been silently corrected, but I have not altered the occasionally erratic English spelling and punctuation of their letters and diaries.




Prologue: Far from Home


Daybreak, April 4, 1938. Shivering, exhausted, and naked, two bedraggled swimmers climb out of the freezing water and onto the bank of Spain’s Ebro River, which is swollen with melted snow from the Pyrenees. Both men are Americans.


The country is in flames. For nearly two years, the fractious but democratically elected government of the Spanish Republic has been defending itself against a military uprising led by Francisco Franco and backed by Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy. Franco, who has given himself the title of Generalissimo, has a framed photograph of Adolf Hitler on his desk and has spoken of Germany as “a model which we will always keep before us.” The skies above the Ebro this dawn are dark with warplanes, state-of-the-art fighters and bombers, flown by German pilots, that the Führer has sent the Generalissimo. On the ground, tanks and soldiers from Italy, some of the nearly 80,000 troops the dictator Benito Mussolini will loan Franco, have helped launch the greatest offensive of the war. A powerful drive from the western two thirds of the country, which Franco controls, its goal is to reach the Mediterranean, splitting the remaining territory of the Spanish Republic in two.


Franco’s prolonged battle for power is the fiercest conflict in Europe since the First World War, marked by a vindictive savagery not seen even then. His forces have bombed cities into rubble, tortured political opponents, murdered people for belonging to labor unions, machine-gunned hospital wards full of wounded, branded Republican women on their breasts with the emblem of his movement, and carried out death sentences with the garrote, a medieval iron collar used to strangle its victim.


Battered by the new offensive, the Republic’s soldiers are retreating chaotically, streaming eastward before Franco’s troops, tanks, and bombers. In some places, his rapidly advancing units have leapfrogged ahead. The Republican forces include thousands of volunteers from other countries, many of them Americans. Some have already been killed. Franco has just announced that any foreign volunteers taken prisoner will be shot.


Cutting through rugged mountainous country in Spain’s northeast, the fast-flowing Ebro, the country’s largest river, marks the line between death and safety: the east bank is still in Republican hands. Small clusters of American volunteers, trapped behind the lines, have succeeded in slipping past Franco’s troops by night, navigating by the North Star. After three days with little sleep, pursued by soldiers, tanks, and cavalry guided by spotter planes circling overhead, they reach the Ebro before dawn, near a point where a bridge appears on the map. The bridge, they discover, has been blown up, and there are no boats. A few of those who cannot swim desperately tear a door from an abandoned farmhouse to use as a raft; other nonswimmers enter the river clinging to a log. Swept away by the current, at least six — four of whom are wounded — will drown.


Three remaining Americans who can swim strip off their boots and all their clothing and plunge into the icy water. One of them lands far downstream, but two young New Yorkers, John Gates and George Watt, who has a sprained ankle and a shrapnel wound in his hand, wade out of the water together on the far side. As morning breaks, they head east, hoping to find someone who can tell them where the remnants of their unit might be. “We walk stark naked and barefoot over a seemingly endless stretch of sharp stones and burrs that cut our feet,” Watt remembered. “We are shivering from the cold, and our feet are bleeding when we reach the highway. . . . A truck comes down the road. I wonder what must be going through the mind of the driver, seeing two naked men standing on the highway. He hands us a couple of blankets and drives away.”


Gates recalled the next moment this way: “Hungry and exhausted, I felt I could not take another step. . . . We lay down on the side of the road, with no idea of who might come along, too beat to care. . . . Suddenly a car drove up, stopped and out stepped two men. Nobody ever looked better to me in all my life. . . . We hugged one another.”


In the black two-seater Matford roadster are a New York Times correspondent, Herbert L. Matthews, and Ernest Hemingway, who is covering the war for the North American Newspaper Alliance. “The writers gave us the good news of the many friends who were safe,” Gates wrote, “and we told them the bad news of some who were not.” Hemingway and Matthews had often reported on the American volunteers in Spain and knew some of them well. Many are now missing, including Major Robert Merriman of California, chief of staff of the XV International Brigade, last seen some ten miles away leading a party of soldiers about to be encircled by Franco’s troops. None of the four men by the river have any news of his fate.


“There are hundreds of men still across the Ebro,” wrote Watt. “Many are dead; some are drowned. How many captured? We have no idea. Matthews is busy taking notes. Hemingway is busy cursing the Fascists.” The novelist’s notorious strut and bluster were on full display, though his audience consisted only of two wet, shivering men wearing nothing but blankets. “Facing the other side of the river,” as Gates remembered it, “Hemingway shook his burly fist. ‘You fascist bastards haven’t won yet,’ he shouted. ‘We’ll show you!’”


The war in which these four Americans encountered each other near a riverbank so far from home was a pivotal event in Spain’s history. At the time it was also seen as a moral and political touchstone, a world war in embryo, in a Europe shadowed by the rapid ascent of fascism. Roughly 2,800 Americans fought in the Spanish Civil War, an estimated 750 of them dying there — a far higher death rate than the US military suffered in any of its twentieth-century wars. For many veterans it would be the defining experience of their lives, as it would be for some American correspondents. “Wherever in this world I meet a man or woman who fought for Spanish liberty,” Herbert Matthews wrote years later, “I meet a kindred soul.” Despite the conventions of American journalism, reporters can feel as partisan as anybody else. In this war all pretense otherwise often vanished: as Republican troops fled Franco’s deadly offensive that spring, Matthews and his counterpart from the New York Herald Tribune both sent personal telegrams to President Franklin D. Roosevelt begging him to send the Republic arms.


The Second World War has largely eclipsed the earlier conflict in our collective memory, but at the time, tens of millions of Americans followed news of it intently. While the fighting lasted, from mid-1936 to early 1939, the New York Times ran more than 1,000 front-page headlines about the war in Spain — outnumbering those on any other single topic, including President Roosevelt, the rise of Nazi Germany, or the calamitous toll of the Great Depression. While their government adamantly refused to intervene in Spain, many Americans were deeply involved — on both sides. For example, the fuel for those Nazi aircraft bombing and strafing the American volunteers came from Texas, sold to Franco by a swashbuckling American oilman with a penchant for right-wing dictators.


My own introduction to the war came in the mid-1960s when I was a cub reporter on the San Francisco Chronicle. Two older journalists at the paper were veterans of the Abraham Lincoln Brigade, as the several units of American volunteers informally came to be called. I remember asking one of them, who had driven an ambulance in Spain, how he looked back on the war. Over the clatter of manual typewriters and teletype machines and the whoosh of pneumatic tubes that carried our stories to the typesetters, he said with great feeling, so unlike the usual banter of the newsroom, “I wish we’d won.”


The Spanish Republic lost the war, of course, and that loss has cast a certain shadow over the conflict ever since. The aura of knowing things will end in defeat pervades the best-known novel of the war, Hemingway’s For Whom the Bell Tolls, published the year after Franco’s victory. More than any other event of its era, the Spanish Civil War invites “What if?” questions. What if the Western democracies had sold Republican Spain the arms it repeatedly, urgently tried to buy? Might these have been enough to defeat the aircraft, submarines, and troops dispatched by Hitler and Mussolini? And if so, would Hitler still have sent his troops into Austria, Czechoslovakia, and finally some dozen other countries? Could the Second World War in Europe, with its tens of millions of deaths and untold suffering, have been avoided? Or might it at least have unfolded in some different, more limited way?


Few American volunteers doubted that they were fighting the first battle of a world war to come, and they were right: where else, after all, were Americans being bombed by Nazi pilots more than four years before the United States declared war on Germany and Japan? In other countries as well, many felt the Spanish war to be the era’s testing ground. “Men of my generation,” wrote the French novelist Albert Camus, “have had Spain in our hearts. . . . It was there that they learned . . . that one can be right and yet be beaten, that force can vanquish spirit, and that there are times when courage is not rewarded.”


There seemed a moral clarity about the crisis in Spain. Rapidly advancing fascism cried out for defiance; if not here, where? This is why so many men from around the world volunteered to fight, and why, decades later, I saw Lincoln Brigade veterans enthusiastically cheered when they appeared in demonstrations for civil rights or against the Vietnam War in the 1960s, or against US intervention in Central America in the 1980s. Over time, I met half a dozen former volunteers, and was friends with two for many years. (Only in writing this book did I realize that yet another, Dr. Jacques Grunblatt, who appears only briefly in these pages, was the surgeon who once stitched me up after an accident when I was a boy.) Imagining myself in their shoes became still easier when I discovered that the couple whom you’ll meet in the first chapter lived, when the husband was a graduate student at Berkeley in the 1930s, only a few blocks from where I do today, in a building I’ve walked past hundreds of times. All of us who care about social justice feel a need for political ancestors, and surely, it seems, that’s what these men and women — some 75 American women, mostly nurses, volunteered in Spain — were.


I felt this as strongly as did other members of the ’60s generation. Anyone’s interest in a time and place usually springs from wondering: what would I have done then? I often liked to believe that, had I been alive in that era, I, too, would have gone to Spain. Yet I also knew that the story had a darker, less romantic side. For the only major country that did sell arms to the Spanish Republic was the Soviet Union, and it exacted a considerable price in return. Some Spaniards became victims of the ruthlessness against his enemies, real and imaginary, that was such a hallmark of Joseph Stalin’s dictatorship.


In a most unexpected place, I once encountered a vivid reminder of the toll that his paranoia took. In 1991, I was researching a book on how Russians were coming to terms with Stalin’s legacy. Just that year, as the Soviet Union was swiftly falling apart, the authorities finally lifted decades of restrictions on where foreign journalists could travel, so I was able to visit a place few Westerners had previously seen, Karaganda, in Kazakhstan. That remote, decrepit city of crumbling gray and brown concrete had once been the center of a huge network of gulag labor camps for prisoners put to work mining coal. In a desolate rural cemetery, some miles outside of town, years of freezing and thawing had left stark, homemade metal crosses tilted or flat on the ground. Electric power lines crossed above them, and scraps of plastic bags and garbage blew in the constant wind of the Central Asian steppes. To my surprise, many graves had Spanish names.


The USSR, I learned, had taken in several thousand Republican refugees, many of them children. In addition, when the war ended, Spanish sailors on ships in Soviet ports and several hundred Spanish pilots in training were unable to return home. Like millions of Soviets, a number of these Spaniards fell victim to Stalin’s suspicions. An estimated 270 Spanish Republicans were sent to the gulag, many dying there of starvation, exhaustion, or exposure. At least 60 were imprisoned near the cemetery I saw, in a crowded labor camp surrounded by three high, concentric fences of barbed wire.


How do we reconcile these two pictures of the Spanish Civil War? Surely Spaniards were right to resist a coup backed by Hitler and Mussolini. But did the Republic become doomed by its entanglement with the Soviet Union, whose government was at least as murderous as the Franco regime? Defenders of the Republic were, in short, fighting for one of the finest of causes beside one of the nastiest of allies. How did they experience this? How much were they even aware of it? Or, if you’re in a desperate battle for survival, do you have the luxury of worrying about who your allies are? These were among the questions that long made me want to explore this period of history.


Most of the Americans who went to Spain considered themselves Communists, and we cannot understand them without understanding why communism then had such a powerful appeal and why the Soviet Union seemed a beacon of hope to so many. The funeral of one of my Lincoln Brigade friends, 65 years after he left Spain and 45 years after he left the US Communist Party, was the first time I ever heard the “Internationale.” Once it had been the anthem of the world Communist movement; now it was a tune sung by a few old men struggling to remember the words and, perhaps, the youthful dream they had once evoked.


Today communism, Trotskyism, and anarchism have generally lost their hold, and the old arguments among their followers can sometimes feel as remote as medieval religious disputes. Vanished also is the widespread conviction that the capitalist system was in crisis and could endure no longer, and that a blueprint for the future existed, even if there were quarrels over whose blueprint was right. While much of that feels distant now, other aspects of 1930s Spain still seem all too similar to many countries today: the great gap between rich and poor, and the struggle between an authoritarian dictatorship and millions of powerless people long denied their fair share of land, education, and so much more. These things make Spain of the 1930s, a crucial battleground of its time, a resonant one for ours as well.


I wondered about something else too. For more than half a century now, many members of my own political generation have been strongly opposed to war, and especially to American intervention in the civil wars or internal affairs of other countries, whether in Vietnam, Nicaragua, El Salvador, Iraq, or almost anywhere else. Yet most of us have long thought the world would have been better off if our government had not stood aside from the Spanish Civil War. We’ve regarded as heroes an earlier generation of Americans who went off to fight in it. This raises the question: are there times when military involvement in a distant conflict is justified?


This was certainly the only time so many Americans joined someone else’s civil war — and they did so even though their own government made strenuous efforts to stop them. They came from nearly every state in the Union and included rich and poor, Ivy League graduates, and men who had ridden freight trains in search of work. What made them go? What did they learn — about themselves, about war, about the country they had signed up to defend and the one they had left? Did any have later regrets?


There were also Americans, I discovered as I began exploring this era, who were drawn to Spain not by the fight that the Lincolns were waging, but by a far less publicized social revolution happening behind the lines. One, who reached Spain months before any of the Lincoln volunteers, was a fiery young Kentucky woman on her honeymoon.


I was curious about another group of people as well. As a journalist who has often reported from abroad, on occasion from conflict zones, I wanted to take a close look at the much-mythologized American reporters who covered the war. Did Matthews, Hemingway, and their colleagues get the story right? Did their passionate feelings — it’s normally unheard of for correspondents in the field to send telegrams to the White House — skew their reporting? What did they miss?


And so I decided to explore the lives of Americans involved in the Spanish Civil War. I have widened the circle slightly to include three Englishmen: one fought with the Americans, one against them, and a third is familiar to all American readers. What follows is not a full history of the war, or even of American involvement in it. It is, rather, the story of a collection of people whose paths took them an ocean away from home during a violent time. History does not come neatly packaged, and some of these men and women, however courageous, had beliefs that seem illusions to us today; idealism and bravery, after all, are not always synonymous with wisdom. Still, it was deeply moving to get to know them, and to wonder again what I might or might not have done in their place and time. Looking into their lives took me to meetings with their descendants, to libraries and archives, to a few documents long tucked away in closets or drawers, and finally to the banks of the Ebro River.




PART I




1
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Chasing Moneychangers from the Temple


In a state that was largely brown desert, the wide lawns of the University of Nevada stood out like a green oasis. On a bluff overlooking Reno, tree-shaded red-brick buildings were laced with vines and dotted with cupolas and windows in white frames. Spread around a small lake, the school had an Ivy League look that would make it a favorite location for Hollywood films set on campuses.


Six feet two and a half inches tall, sandy-haired, rangy, and handsome, Robert Merriman was working his way through college. He held jobs at a local funeral home, as a fraternity house manager, and as a salesman at J. C. Penney, where he used his employee discount to buy his clothes. Growing up in California, he had already spent several years in a paper mill and as a lumberjack — his father’s trade — between high school and college. Along the way, he had also worked in a cement plant and on a cattle ranch. Once enrolled at Nevada, he discovered he could earn an extra $8.50 a month by signing up for the Reserve Officers’ Training Corps, or ROTC, whose cadets wore cavalry-era dress uniforms including riding boots and jodhpurs. He also found time to play end on the campus football team, and then, when an injury forced him to stop, to become a cheerleader. Indeed, for the rest of his life there would remain something of the clean-cut cheerleader about him.


Bob Merriman met Marion Stone at a dance just before their freshman year. On the first day of school he spotted her as he was driving by in a small Dodge convertible, braked, and called out, “Climb in! We’re going places.” Slender, attractive, and half a head shorter than he, Marion was the daughter of an alcoholic restaurant chef. She, too, had worked for two years after high school and, like millions of other people, had then lost her savings in a bank failure. She was supporting herself as a secretary and by cooking and cleaning for the family who owned the mortuary where Bob worked.


Marion lived most of her college years in a sorority house. By her account, campus courting was a chaste affair: dancing, kissing, and perhaps an occasional daring visit to a Prohibition-era speakeasy. She was chosen “Honorary Major” of the University Military Ball that Bob staged with his ROTC friends, and he splurged some of his hard-earned money to buy her slippers and a taffeta gown. On the morning of graduation day in May 1932, they received their degrees and Bob his commission as a second lieutenant in the Army Reserve. They were married that afternoon. Afterward they drove through the Sierra Nevada to a borrowed cottage on the shore of Lake Tahoe and went to bed together at last. It was, she says, the first time for each of them.


That fall, encouraged by one of his Nevada professors who had spotted his talent, Bob Merriman enrolled as a graduate student in economics at the University of California at Berkeley. In a country gripped by the worst depression in its history, with nearly a quarter of the population out of work, no subject seemed more vital. Berkeley leaned to the left, but with millions of homeless Americans living in “Hooverville” shacks of corrugated iron, tarpaper, cinderblocks, or old packing cases — in New York, one Hooverville sprouted close to Wall Street and another in Central Park — you didn’t have to be a leftist to wonder: was there a better way?


Franklin D. Roosevelt entered the Oval Office during Merriman’s first year at Berkeley, voicing in his inaugural address a near-biblical radicalism seldom heard from an American president before or since: “Practices of the unscrupulous moneychangers stand indicted. . . . The moneychangers have fled from their high seats in the temple of our civilization. We may now restore that temple to the ancient truths. The measure of the restoration lies in the extent to which we apply social values more noble than mere monetary profit.” Some of the moneychangers seemed uneasy. The financier J. P. Morgan Jr., heir to a vast banking fortune, put his yacht in mothballs, writing a friend, “There are so many suffering from lack of work, and even from actual hunger, that it is both wiser and kinder not to flaunt such luxuriant amusement.”


Funds were tight for the newlyweds. For several months, Marion could not afford to leave a new job she had in Nevada. A stream of letters and an occasional love poem from Bob to his “Dearest girl of all” assured her of how much he missed her: “Love and please hurry. I’m tired of living alone and need you and you alone.” At the same time, he kept a wary eye on their finances: “I am very much in favor of your coming down over the holidays if you can make it. However, if there is any possibility of spending much money doing it we had better not try.”


He shared with her his excitement at being on a far more sophisticated campus: “One room in the library is like a handsome club room of some sort. Soft armchairs and all.” It was thrilling for him to become an instructor of undergraduates and to get to know fellow graduate students who had come long distances to study in his department, including a young Canadian named John Kenneth

Galbraith. “The most popular of my generation of graduate students at Berkeley” was how Galbraith would remember Merriman. “Later he was to show himself the bravest.”


Bob took a bed in a rooming house while searching for an affordable place for the couple to live. “Since my arrival here,” he wrote to Marion, “I have looked at, at least, fifty apartments. . . . Last nite I left the library early . . . and searched some more. I found one that I consider we can’t beat. . . . So I put down $5 deposit and shall move in tomorrow afternoon. . . . They charge $20 a month so it is no palace neither is it a shack. . . . I have been a trifle skimpy on rations but I’m eating more now all of the books are paid for. I am feeling like a million and just dying to have my sweetheart join me soon.”


Before long she did, in the one-room studio Bob had found five minutes’ walk north of the campus, equipped with a Murphy bed that unfolded from the wall. Despite the Great Depression, Marion seemed to have a knack for landing on her feet and finding work. She first took a job as a bank secretary, then clerked at a housewares store in San Francisco, to which she commuted by trolley car and ferry. Even with little money, married life was a delight. “Bob invented a mischievous game in which we would sneak into the luxurious Nob Hill hotel, the Mark Hopkins, by pretending to be meeting someone at the bar. Once inside we danced for hours, never spending more than the price of the first drink. We got so good at it that we sometimes didn’t even order a drink.” Among their favorite tunes were “Stardust” and “Tea for Two.”


Soon three more people were crowded into the tiny apartment: on a cot in the kitchen was a graduate student without a place to live whom Bob had taken pity on; sleeping on another cot and the living room couch were Marion’s eight- and eleven-year-old sisters. Their mother had died and their hard-drinking father was incapable of caring for them. “You walked in the door and you had to crawl over a bed to get anywhere,” Marion remembered. “Bob was unflappable. He simply figured my sisters, the graduate student, and, God knows, maybe even someone else eventually, were in need; he had room, we ought to share it.” His infectious good spirits made her feel “as though I were a child running and laughing in a wild game of Follow the Leader.”


Meanwhile, the country around them simmered in misery. Thirty-four million Americans lived in households with no wage earner. In every city, long lines of jobless men in cloth caps or Homburgs waited outside soup kitchens, but the churches and charities operating them sometimes ran out of funds and had no food to serve. Families rummaged in trash bins and garbage dumps for anything edible and tried to keep warm in winter over sidewalk hot-air grates. In Pennsylvania, homeless unemployed steelworkers and their wives and children lived inside idled coke ovens. The economic abyss was deepened by a drought of historic proportions that sent millions of people streaming westward from the Great Plains under vast clouds of topsoil turned to dust. Midwestern farmers who managed to harvest a crop sometimes could find no grain elevator willing to buy it. The city of Detroit slaughtered the animals in its zoo to provide meat for the hungry. When the Empire State Building opened to great fanfare, it could rent only 20 percent of its space. For the jobless, telephones became an unaffordable luxury: between 1930 and 1933, the number of households with phone service shrank by more than three million.


A mood of national despair was punctuated by moments when the desperate tried to seize what they needed to survive. Some 300 men and women gathered on the main street of the town of England, Arkansas, and refused to move until shop owners distributed bread and other food. In Oklahoma City, people forced their way into a grocery store and took food off the shelves, while in Minneapolis it required 100 policemen to break up a crowd doing the same thing.


Labor turned militant. More than 300,000 textile workers walked off the job in 1934 in the largest strike America had yet seen. From Maine to Georgia, clothing mill employees clashed with police, strikebreakers, and the National Guard in violence that left some dozen people dead. The Georgia governor put the whole state under martial law. Elsewhere, by the hundreds of thousands, small farmers and homeowners lost their property to foreclosure — or sometimes gathered neighbors with shotguns and refused to move.


In the summer after his first year at Berkeley, Bob Merriman worked on a Ford auto assembly line in the nearby industrial city of Richmond and was appalled to find that the workers, not even allowed bathroom breaks, were routinely splashed by battery acid. The next summer, in 1934, he would be swept into a far more political world than the one he had known in Nevada. Some 15,000 West Coast longshoremen had formed a union and, when shipping firms refused to recognize it, walked off the job. Sailors, harbor pilots, and truck drivers carrying cargo to the docks joined them. In a display of solidarity rare for that era, the strikers and their allies — whites, blacks, Chinese and Filipino Americans — marched eight abreast up San Francisco’s Market Street under a union flag.


The maritime companies hired replacements, sometimes housing them on shipboard to keep them beyond reach of the fists and boots of angry longshoremen. At Berkeley, hundreds of professors and students, like Merriman, fervently backed the strikers, while the football coach — William Ingram, an Annapolis graduate known as “Navy Bill”— organized players to work as strikebreakers.


All major Pacific coast ports were shut down, but the heart of the battle was in San Francisco, then a rough-edged, blue-collar city and the country’s biggest union stronghold. A thousand men at a time blocked the waterfront in 12-hour shifts. Tensions rose, and any truck that tried to drive through the line of picketing workers was met by fusillades of rocks and bricks. From the hills that overlooked the wharves, thousands of San Franciscans watched the ensuing street fighting and listened to police gunfire. When tear gas grenades lit a hillside of dry grass on fire the city looked even more like a war zone. In several days of fighting, two strikers were killed and well over 100 injured people were taken to hospitals. A solemn crowd of 15,000 escorted the bodies of the dead along Market Street in silence. The San Francisco Labor Council voted, for only the second time in American history, to call a general strike. Throughout the Bay Area, nearly 130,000 people stopped working.


Some 500 special police were sworn in, and vigilante groups joined them in wrecking union offices and a kitchen feeding the strikers. The attackers smashed furniture, threw typewriters out of windows, and beat up union members and other radicals. “Reds Turn Black and Blue” ran the triumphant headline in the San Francisco Chronicle. Well over 250 unionists and their sympathizers were arrested, and the governor mobilized 4,500 National Guardsmen. Along the waterfront, helmeted soldiers manned sandbag barricades and a machine-gun nest.


The conflict did not bring on the revolution that many dreamed of, but the strikers won some of their demands. The union took firm root among longshoremen, and until cranes for shipping containers replaced dockworkers’ cargo hooks several decades later, it would be one of the country’s strongest. Working as a volunteer in the strike publicity office, Bob Merriman had a front-row seat at a historic labor victory.


Just as the strike was one part of Merriman’s introduction to the political strife of his day, his surroundings at Berkeley were another. Teaching in his department, for instance, was the economist Paul Taylor, husband of the photographer Dorothea Lange; the couple went into sunbaked fields to research and publicize the dire conditions of California’s migrant farmworkers, among the poorest of the country’s poor. Berkeley was home to many others on the left: Democrats who wanted Roosevelt’s New Deal to be more far-reaching, Socialists who advocated a peaceful transition to public ownership of industry, Communists, and members of a host of smaller sects.


It was hardly surprising that the Merrimans became interested in the Soviet Union. Nor were they the only Americans to feel that the USSR was worth a sympathetic look. Surely, many felt, there must be an alternative to an America where workers trying to organize risked bloody beatings and an economic system drove so many to depths of despair. Every day brought more headlines that underscored the enormity of the national crisis. Ten paroled prisoners asked to be readmitted to a penitentiary in Pennsylvania because they couldn’t find jobs. Chicago ran out of money to pay its schoolteachers. In Appalachia, men, women, and children survived on wild grass, roots, and dandelions. Capitalism, it seemed, was at last experiencing the death throes that Karl Marx had predicted. Couldn’t a planned economy, by contrast, put the unemployed to work building much-needed housing, schools, and hospitals? And wasn’t that just what they were doing in Russia?


Today we remember the American Communist Party as the handmaiden of a ruthless and ultimately failed Soviet dictatorship. But as the historian Ellen Schrecker has written, it was also “the most dynamic organization within the American Left during the 1930s and ’40s.” Thanks to its influential role in great labor battles like the San Francisco waterfront strike and its pioneering efforts to organize farmworkers, the Party had won respect from many far beyond its small membership. In a highly segregated and sexist age, it campaigned to get black Americans onto jury and voter rolls and fought for the rights of women. A New York trade unionist, who would later cross paths with Merriman in Spain, joined the Party after he saw members of its youth league defiantly carrying the belongings and furniture of newly evicted tenement dwellers back upstairs to their apartments. “There was an organization that didn’t just talk, but actually did something.”


The national sense of crisis was so deep that, in the presidential election of 1932, 52 prominent American writers — including Sherwood Anderson, Theodore Dreiser, John Dos Passos, Langston Hughes, and Edmund Wilson — announced their support for the Communist candidate for president. Even that very non-Communist chronicler of high society F. Scott Fitzgerald urged Marx on his daughter: “Read the terrible chapter in Das Kapital on The Working Day, and see if you are ever quite the same.”


As the ’30s went on, it only became clearer that the New Deal was doing little to pull the country out of the Depression. And elsewhere things seemed even worse. Riding a deadly wave of street violence by his brown-uniformed storm troopers, Adolf Hitler had taken power in Germany, burned books, fired Jewish professors, pulled his country out of the League of Nations, and thrown more than 50,000 Germans into “protective custody” in prisons and concentration camps. In 1934, in the “Night of the Long Knives,” he personally led the contingent of SS men who gunned down more than 100 of his enemies inside and outside the Nazi movement, including a former German chancellor; one man was murdered with pickaxes. The next year Germany dramatically stepped up its military spending and stripped citizenship and civil rights from the country’s Jews, whom propaganda chief Joseph Goebbels called “syphilis” infecting the people of Europe. In Italy, Benito Mussolini’s paramilitary Blackshirts terrorized anyone who resisted his Fascist dictatorship. On the other side of the world, a militarized imperial Japan had brutally occupied the Chinese region of Manchuria.


In many countries hit by the Depression, right and left clashed violently — and the right seemed to be winning. When revolution-minded Spanish coal miners armed with dynamite seized mines, factories, banks, and other businesses in the province of Asturias in the fall of 1934, at least 1,000 of them were slaughtered by government troops and artillery. The soldiers included the much-feared Spanish Foreign Legion, whose men sported the sliced-off ears of their victims on wire necklaces and sometimes cut off miners’ hands, tongues, and genitals. Rebellious miners saw their wives raped, and thousands of them were thrown in prison. The victorious troops were led by one of Europe’s youngest generals, the tough-talking Francisco Franco, whom the Associated Press referred to as “Spain’s ‘man of the hour.’”


By comparison, events in the Soviet Union sounded promising. In these apocalyptic times, it became a place onto which millions of people projected their hopes. There were no strikes — at least none that anyone in the United States heard of — and whatever other problems the new society might have, unemployment was not one of them. The Soviet economy appeared to be booming, enough so that Joseph Stalin ordered 75,000 Model A sedans from Henry Ford.


More than that: the Russians were hiring. When the government posted job openings for American engineers and technicians, in an eight-month period more than 100,000 applied. Thousands more headed for the country on tourist visas hoping to find work when they got there — enough American and British newcomers so that the weekly English-language Moscow News went daily. Two brothers who would later become major labor leaders, Walter and Victor Reuther, were among the tens of thousands of foreigners who found jobs in Russia, working in an auto factory in the city of Gorky. A book originally written for Soviet schoolchildren, New Russia’s Primer: The Story of the Five-Year Plan, spent seven months on the American bestseller list. “In the great financial storm that has burst on us your own ship is sinking,” the Irish playwright George Bernard Shaw told American radio listeners after returning from a visit to the USSR, “and the Russian ship is the only big one that is not rolling heavily and tapping out SOS on its wireless.”


Although he had become head teaching fellow in Berkeley’s economics department, Bob Merriman was an activist at heart. He was more interested in a society that was remaking itself than in texts about supply and demand curves that seemed to have little relevance to a world caught in the Depression. Though not a Communist Party member, he began to move in its circles. The chair of the economics department was a conservative, but told Bob that he believed it was important to understand the new Soviet system. Why not, Merriman thought, do his doctoral dissertation on some aspect of the subject? By the end of 1934, he had finished his course work and, as Galbraith wrote, “was awarded one of the rare traveling fellowships in the gift of the university.” Although the decision must have been painful for her, Marion placed her two sisters, now ten and thirteen, in the most enlightened children’s home she could find (a professor of Bob’s was on the board). The fellowship provided $900 for study abroad, and that was enough, with the couple’s savings, to set the Merrimans on their way to Moscow.
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Promised Land, Black Wings


For ambitious young Americans in the years between the two world wars, one of the most glittering of all professions was that of foreign correspondent. A select group of journalists, telegraphing their reports by underwater cable, interpreted the wider world for readers back home. To be a member of this elite seemed to Louis Fischer a miraculous leap from his origins in the Philadelphia slums.


“My father worked as a laborer in a factory and then graduated to selling fish and fruit from a pushcart,” he later wrote. “I can still hear his cry, ‘Peaches, fresh peaches.’ Sometimes I hauled the empty pushcart to the stable. My mother took in washing. The family moved whenever it could not pay rent — which was often. Until I reached the age of sixteen, I never lived in a house with electricity, running water, or an inside lavatory, or any heat except from a coal stove in the kitchen–living room.” Food often ran out.


Restless to escape, Fischer identified journalism as his path to a more glamorous life. In the aftermath of the First World War he persuaded the New York Evening Post to pay him by the article for pieces he would send from Berlin — where Germany’s ruinous inflation meant the dollar went a long way. His skill in cultivating editors and a knack for quickly mastering languages soon found him in Moscow, where he began churning out books as well as hundreds of freelance articles for the venerable New York liberal weekly the Nation and newspapers like the New York Times and the Baltimore Sun. By the late 1920s he was taking a steamship home each year to profit from the American appetite for authoritative-sounding speakers on foreign affairs. His books and lectures made him enough of a minor celebrity that when touring the United States he was sought out by other reporters for interviews.


In 1922, Fischer married a Russian woman and before long they had two sons, who would grow up in Moscow. With as much of an appetite for women as for travel, he had numerous affairs on several continents, fathering at least one additional child. But he remained fond of his wife, and later in their lives, even long after they had parted ways, they regularly traded warm letters. By the mid-1930s, Fischer had developed a sideline: for several weeks each summer, he took tour groups of Americans through the USSR. Although he sometimes wore a Russian peasant’s blouse and sandals to show his solidarity with the working classes, he enjoyed the extra money these trips earned him and was particularly proud one year that his “star pupil” was Maurice Wertheim, a “millionaire investment banker” with a New York penthouse, a Connecticut estate, a private salmon-fishing river in Canada, and a collection of Picassos. (Wertheim’s daughter would later win wide renown as the historian Barbara Tuchman.)


Like so many others in these years scarred by war and depression, Fischer was searching for a creed that would make sense of the world and hold out the promise of a better future. “I cannot imagine life without something higher than myself in which I can have faith,” he wrote. After a youthful flirtation with Zionism, he found that faith in the Soviet Union. “I too was swept away by it. . . . A whole nation marched behind a vision. . . . I had stood at train windows during night hours of horrid wakefulness crossing the flat face of Russia. No light. Hundreds of miles of darkness. People lived in that all their lives. I had done high-school lessons by kerosene lamp. It doesn’t kill you, but bright light is better. To this day I hate to turn off a light. . . . Now the electric bulb was invading the bleak black village. . . . Russia was trying to lift itself out of an ancient mire.”


Communism seemed to be magically sweeping a backward country into the industrial age. Like many creeds, this one had its living prophet. Accompanying an American delegation in 1927, Fischer spent the better part of a day in the company of Joseph Stalin, whose soft-spoken, simple-soldier manner charmed many a foreign visitor. “As he talked to us hour after hour my respect for his strength, will and faith grew. . . . His calm voice reflected inner power.”


In photographs Fischer is never smiling. Intense, broad-shouldered, with a shock of black hair and imposing dark eyebrows, he was not to everyone’s taste. The British writer Malcolm Muggeridge, then a young correspondent in Moscow, found him a “sallow, ponderous, inordinately earnest man . . . who had never once through the years veered from virtuously following the Party Line.” When the two of them were talking to an engineer at a dam-building site who dropped an impolitic hint that the construction workers were, in fact, prisoners, Fischer quickly changed the subject.


What drew Fischer to his role in Moscow was not just naïve idealism but the hunger for recognition and closeness to power of someone who had grown up with neither. In the many photos he saved, the other person in the picture is often a premier, general, or cabinet minister. Most reporters request an interview to hear someone else’s views, but after returning to Moscow from one trip to Western Europe, Fischer wrote to Stalin asking for a meeting so that “I . . . could give you my impressions of that journey . . . and talk with you about the international situation.” There is no record of whether the dictator replied, but Soviet officials clearly knew how to satisfy Fischer’s ego. In 1932, he was one of three foreign correspondents honored for their “fairness and impartiality in presenting the news” at a banquet given by the Commissariat of Foreign Affairs. Such flattery paid off: “Sun over the Kremlin: Mr. Louis Fischer Finds Russia a Busy, Happy Nation” ran the headline in the Washington Post a few years later over a review of one of his books.


In the Soviet Union and on reporting trips elsewhere, Fischer artfully cultivated politicians in his fluent Russian, French, or German. By sharing news and gossip, he was able to fill his black leather notebooks with comments from them that lent his articles the air of being inside the great game of global politics. He yearned to be an influential figure on that stage himself and was forever giving advice to those who were. “The Prime Minister . . . looked at me and measured his words,” he wrote in one of many similar passages in his memoirs. “‘. . . I am glad you have spoken frankly with me. . . . If you have more criticism write me again, or come see me.’” He proudly described how one prominent Soviet general summoned a stenographer to take notes on suggestions Fischer was giving him. Clearly those he interviewed sensed that the path to favorable coverage in Fischer’s stories was enthusiastic listening.


Foreigners searching in the Soviet Union for a future that worked, in the journalist Lincoln Steffens’s famous phrase, usually found it. Fischer was no exception. The Soviet secret police, he wrote in a 1935 book, “is not merely an intelligence service and militia. It is a vast industrial organization and a big educational institution” operating, among other things, the Dynamo Athletic Club of Moscow, to which it generously gave outsiders access. The camps it maintained across the country were efforts to reform criminals through healthy outdoor work. In the same book, he devoted a rapturous chapter to Bolshevo, a bucolic Potemkin-village penal colony near Moscow where hundreds of foreign visitors were shown how Soviet criminals were generously provided with sports facilities, a movie theater, an art studio, and courses of study. The inmates were treated so well, Fischer wrote, that “many of them have told me that they love the place too much to give it up.”


Friendships form quickly among compatriots in a foreign country, and on tennis courts a few blocks north of the Kremlin Fischer soon became a regular partner of the athletic young economist who had just arrived from Berkeley, Bob Merriman. This “smiling, shy, tall person,” Fischer wrote, was “always eager to assure me, when he defeated me on the courts, that I really played better than he did.”


In January 1935, when Bob and Marion had left California, it was the first time either of them had been east of Nevada. They crossed the United States by decrepit jitney, their fare reduced because Bob helped with the driving. Along the way were constant reminders of the millions of Americans hungry, homeless, and out of work: shuttered factories, long lines of people on sidewalks waiting to turn in job applications or collect bowls of soup. In Philadelphia and New York they saw men warming themselves around open fires in Hoovervilles. Then came a liner across the Atlantic with music to dance to every night, stops in London and Copenhagen, an icebreaker voyage to Helsinki, and finally the train to Moscow, capital of the promised land.


A Berkeley friend had given them an introduction to a Russian woman who edited a government newspaper for Soviet peasants. When she learned that Bob planned to write his doctoral dissertation on Soviet farming, she asked him to send her articles from his travels to collective farms around the country. Bob also studied Russian and took classes at Moscow’s Institute of Economics, while Marion did secretarial work for British and American businessmen.


The handsome, likable young couple quickly became popular figures in the American expatriate community. Bob was appreciated for his skill at bridge and poker, and friends at the US embassy pumped him for information from his travels to places that were off limits to diplomats. As one consular official reported to Washington, Merriman’s enthusiasm for the USSR was so great that he would “engage in conversation with visiting Americans with the purpose of persuading them to agitate for a change in American policies towards the Soviet Union. He even went so far as to make formal speeches to several groups of tourists”— probably those being shepherded by Louis Fischer.


Bob sent a stream of upbeat articles back to the Pacific Weekly, a small left-wing newspaper in California: Moscow had built 72 new schools and a subway system; the Soviet leadership had “greater real support from the people than any other government in the world”; rest homes for workers were spacious and clean; 99,000 new tractors and 25,000 new combines have “given the peasants greater improvements and opportunities than they had ever dreamed possible.”


In reality, of course, what Soviet peasants had never dreamed possible was one of history’s most catastrophic man-made famines. It had happened in the winter of 1932–33, two years before the Merrimans’ arrival, and was sparked by the forced collectivization of agriculture. Better-off farmers saw their land confiscated and, under the eyes of troops with machine guns, were deported in freight cars to distant parts of the vast country. Other peasants were moved off their tiny individual plots and onto large collective farms — which the authorities were confident would rapidly increase the production of food for the nation’s fast-growing cities. They didn’t. Peasants slaughtered and ate more than 70 million cattle and sheep rather than see them go to the new collectives.


That winter and spring, starvation claimed at least five million lives. Snow drifted over the bodies of those who dropped from hunger on village streets or rural roads. As usually happens in famines, the birth rate plummeted too. When preliminary census returns later found 15 million fewer people in the Soviet Union than expected, Stalin ordered some census officials shot. The next round of statistics proved far brighter.


If Bob Merriman was aware of any of this, he gave no indication in anything he wrote; his only reference to the famine was a denunciation of “the deliberate lies” about Soviet hunger that appeared in the jingoistic Hearst newspapers. Famine survivors, like any Soviets with dark stories to tell, would have known that it was unsafe to say anything critical to a foreigner. If Merriman ever asked his friend Louis Fischer about the rumors of famine, the correspondent, judging from what he wrote on the subject, would have assured the young economist that they were wildly exaggerated, and that collectivization was the biggest step forward since Russia freed the serfs in 1861. That a star Berkeley graduate student should be so capable of ignoring a monumental human disaster in precisely the field he was studying may seem strange today. But many people then experienced the world in black and white: if you were outraged by the hunger, joblessness, and inequality of the West, then Russia had to be the shining path to a better way.


The Merrimans got a more jaundiced view from another new friend in Moscow, someone destined to share the next phase of their lives as well. Thirty-seven-year-old Milly Bennett had been born in San Francisco and at nineteen had gone to work as a newspaper reporter — something unusual for a woman in those years. She soon won attention for a series of articles about working as a maid: “‘Milly’ on New Job Overturns Bowl of Soup,” “‘Milly’ in Berkeley Home Rebels at Cap,” “‘Milly’ Quits.” Another series chronicled jobs elsewhere: “Milly Bennett Gets Acquainted with Girls Working in Factory.” Next came five years on a paper in Honolulu, a marriage and divorce, and several years as a journalist in China, then in the midst of revolutionary turmoil. In 1931, she began work in Russia as a reporter for the government’s English-language Moscow Daily News and soon afterward married a Russian ballet dancer. Sassy and irreverent, she lost her job for a time when Soviet officials thought an article she wrote for a magazine back home had poked too much fun at the naïveté of American pilgrims to Moscow, but she managed to win it back.


“We got along from the first moment,” recalled Marion Merriman, who, with Bennett’s help, found work at the newspaper as a proofreader. Milly, she wrote, “was a homely woman, but . . . her shapely figure turned the head of many a man with a roving eye. . . . Her face reflected her travels, her features craggy and rough-hewn. She was regarded as ‘one of the boys’ in the newspaper office and at the cafe bars where the journalists, a crowd that included few women, gathered.”


Despite her adventurous career, Bennett’s letters from this time — largely bereft of capitals and usually on the newsprint paper that served reporters’ manual typewriters — show her often yearning for something that seems out of reach. Sometimes it was domesticity: writing to a friend who had just given birth, she asked timidly, “Did it hurt?” Sometimes what she found missing from her life was the grounding in Marxist theory the times seemed to require: “I’m attending classes in Leninism; and classes in dialectic materialism . . . i sat in a study group last night, trying to figure out a chapter of Engel’s . . . and i want to say that only a small part of it, oh, a very small part, seem[s] to mean anything to me.” And sometimes she merely yearned for a more secure position in journalism. While she was able to place an occasional magazine piece, rejection letters were more common, and what assignments she got from American newspapers seemed to come only when a regular correspondent needed extra help or was on vacation.


However marginal her perch in the world, Bennett made a strong impression. “Hair like a Hottentot, thick glasses, heavy features,” wrote one newspaperman. Bennett, he said, could “cover any kind of story, fight with anybody who didn’t have her radical notions, brave bullets, cuss you from hell to breakfast or captivate you with her gruff graciousness. She had a way of putting a man ill at ease by peering at him steadily through the wall-like lenses of her glasses and saying, ‘I hate handsome men,’ until he didn’t know whether to be complimented or insulted.”


The great shock of Bennett’s Moscow life came when her Russian husband, Evgeni “Zhenya” Konstantinov, was arrested in her presence and thrown into a Siberian labor camp for the crime of homosexuality. Whether this trait of his took her by surprise, or whether the marriage was meant to give him cover, is unclear. In any event she seemed very attached to him, for in one 1934 letter she wrote, “i would grab tomorrow’s boat [home], except for zhenya and his mother. and i am in love with my young husband. so what do i do. . . . i have just returned from a trip to the concentration camp to visit him — and that almost completely put me down.” Although the marriage broke up, for years afterward she would send money to his family.


Such experiences left her with a more grim view of the country than Bob Merriman’s, and according to Marion, “their arguments at the American embassy bar were legendary.” Years later, Marion reconstructed one such conversation:


“‘Jesus Christ, Bob,’ Milly said in her peppery, usually profane way, ‘how can you find any value in what you see out there with those peasants? Why, for Christ’s sake, they aren’t any better off now under these Soviets than they were under the tsars . . .’


“‘Milly,’ Bob responded with signs of exasperation, ‘this country is in the middle of the most massive change of any country on earth right now. And, I’m telling you, I have seen the Russian peasants working their way into what is, without question, a new and improved life.’


“‘Aw, bullshit,’ Milly said, sipping her scotch whiskey. . . . ‘I’ve been out there and seen ’em too, and so they have gotten rid of a few wooden plows and replaced ’em with steel, so what?’”


Bennett had come to the Soviet Union less as a pilgrim than as a wanderer. She still had some pilgrim in her, however, and even that visit to a prison camp — an almost unheard-of experience for a foreign journalist — seems not to have entirely eradicated it. Life under communism, she wrote to a friend, “can be bitter . . . and dark, past understanding. but the thing you have to do about Russia is what you do about any other ‘faith.’ you set your heart to know they are right . . . and then, when you see things that shudder your bones, you close your eyes and say . . . ‘facts are not important.’”


For those who had faith, any hint of problems in the Soviet Union was easy to dismiss by looking at the other nations of Europe. When the Merrimans traveled west for a summer vacation in 1936, they saw men and women everywhere without jobs or enough to eat. In Vienna they found people fearful that Austria would soon be within Hitler’s grip. They traced the scars that bullets and artillery shells had left on the walls of a famous model Socialist housing complex, the Karl Marx Hof, from attacks on it by right-wingers, police, and paramilitary forces two years earlier. Clearly, this was the scene of a class struggle more violent and bitter than the San Francisco waterfront strike.


Bob and Marion returned to Moscow sobered, feeling, as the French writer André Malraux would soon say, that “Fascism has spread its great black wings over Europe.” The Treaty of Versailles after the First World War had banned German military installations in the Rhineland, a slice of western Germany on either side of the Rhine River, but in 1936 Hitler brazenly violated the agreement, sending troops across the river and building military bases there. In response, the democracies issued only faint protests. Hitler had powerful admirers among the British elite and in North America as well: an obviously entranced Canadian Prime Minister W. L. Mackenzie King would pay a state visit to Berlin the following year and write in his diary that the Führer “will rank some day with Joan of Arc among the deliverers of his people.” Whatever faults the Soviet Union might have, to the Merrimans, Louis Fischer, Milly Bennett, and millions of others, it seemed the only major nation taking a strong stand against the most dangerous development on the planet: fascism.


Even in the United States, proto-Fascist movements were flaunting their presence. Twenty thousand Americans of German descent joined the German-American Bund and went to summer camps for military drill in brown storm-trooper uniforms. The group staged mass rallies at Madison Square Garden and elsewhere modeled on those of the Nazis. The great majority of Italian-American newspapers and organizations were enthusiastic backers of Mussolini, and several hundred young Italian Americans sailed for the home country to volunteer for his army. In Atlanta alone, 20,000 whites joined the Order of the Black Shirts, also known as the American Fascisti, which terrorized people of color. Meanwhile, 16 million Americans, most of them non-Catholics, listened to the “radio priest” Father Charles E. Coughlin, a fist-shaking anti-Semitic orator with a voice of gold. “He could carry an audience, rub their emotions raw and juggle them at will,” wrote one reporter who watched him address a huge crowd ringed by young male followers in uniforms and puttees. “His voice was a clear tenor with an operatic ring, there was a pent-up savagery in each of his sentences which he punctuated with his arm like the downward thrust of a stiletto.” Although Coughlin had started off on the left, as the 1930s went on he found ever more to admire in Hitler and Mussolini, and attacked President Roosevelt for being in thrall to both Jewish Communists and Jewish bankers.


At a time when ominous forces seemed on the march on both sides of the Atlantic, people were unexpectedly cheered by one piece of good news. It came from Spain.


In February 1936, a coalition of liberal, Socialist, and Communist parties known as the Popular Front narrowly defeated lavishly financed right-wing opponents to win a majority in the country’s parliament. Surprisingly, the scene of this unexpected triumph was the Western European nation closest to feudalism, for Spain’s economy and distribution of wealth lagged far behind most of the Continent. Huge changes at last seemed possible in a country where the major powers were wealthy industrialists, big landowners with holdings sometimes larger than 75,000 acres, and the Catholic Church — whose bishops had warned congregations to vote for the right. “It has been many months,” the Nation exulted in New York, “since Europe has furnished news as encouraging for democracy as are the results of the Spanish elections.”


The bitter tensions that simmered throughout Europe in the 1920s and ’30s had nowhere boiled over more than in Spain, with general strikes and peasant risings, hundreds of political killings by both left and right, bank robberies by revolutionaries and torture by the authorities, mass arrests, jailbreaks, and street fighting. Paramilitary forces and mounted police in dark cloaks beat starving farm laborers found with acorns stolen from pigs’ troughs and clashed with rebellious urban workers. In the months after the election, strikes and turmoil continued, with several hundred people dying in political violence.


Now, with their election victory, members of the Popular Front cabinet, precariously riding a tiger, promised dramatic changes, while army officers seethed at the new government’s plans to divert some of the military budget to programs for the poor. The stock market fell as emboldened leftists occupied factories and draped them with red or black banners. Too impatient to wait for legislation, landless peasants began to occupy some of the big estates and start to plow, and jubilant crowds burned churches (a feature of past popular uprisings) and wrecked the offices of right-wing newspapers. Without waiting for a formal amnesty decree, activists marched on jails to release thousands of political prisoners from the miners’ revolt of 1934.


Louis Fischer visited Spain on a reporting trip soon after the election. “The reactionaries,” a trade union leader told him, “can come back into office only through a coup d’état.” To guard against that possibility, Fischer found, generals known for their far-right politics were being reassigned to remote posts in the provinces or colonies. General Francisco Franco, for example, the man who suppressed the 1934 miners’ revolt, was removed as army chief of staff and assigned to command a military base in the Canary Islands off the coast of Africa, more than 800 miles from the Spanish mainland.


A large proportion of Spain’s 24 million people lived on the land, but most had only tiny plots, and millions had none at all. Until a modest land reform program had begun a few years earlier, a mere 2 percent of Spaniards owned 65 percent of the land. Wanting to see the countryside, Fischer and another American correspondent set off on a 1,200-mile trip around Spain by car. What they found was a state of near war between peasants living in thatch-roofed shacks and estate owners determined to hold on to land that they feared the Popular Front government would take from them. Women with worn, leathery faces, kerchiefs, and long, ragged skirts tilled fields by hand as they had for centuries, bent-over men carried huge bundles of branches for firewood on their backs, and political divisions were stark. “As we drove along the highway and through villages, some people gave us the outstretched-arm Fascist salute. . . . Elsewhere adults and children greeted us with the clenched fist”— the sign of the Popular Front. Arriving at one political meeting where the scheduled speaker failed to show up, the unashamedly partisan Fischer took over the gathering and began questioning the audience of peasants. When he asked if any of them ate meat as often as once a week, not a single hand was raised. Then he inquired what would happen if right-wing forces tried to take away their newly acquired plots of land. “They will have to kill us first!” was the reply.


Outside Spain, however, fascism was on the march. In 1935, eager for territory to fit his dreams of a new imperial Rome, Benito Mussolini launched an invasion of Ethiopia. As one of the few parts of Africa that remained uncolonized, the territory appeared ripe for conquest. Backed up by tanks, bombers, and poison gas, nearly half a million Italian soldiers steadily gained ground against an ill-equipped Ethiopian army. Since the victims were Africans, in Europe and North America the reaction was muted, amounting to little more than disapproving newspaper editorials. Black Americans, however, felt strongly: some 3,000 people packed a Harlem church for a protest rally; black communities raised funds and sent bandages and supplies for a 75-bed field hospital. Several thousand men enlisted in a “Black Legion” of volunteers and began training to fight for embattled Ethiopia, although logistics and opposition from the US government would make this impossible. Several American cities saw street fighting between blacks and Italian Americans, and angry crowds in Harlem wrecked or boycotted shops and bars with Italian names.


By mid-1936 the Italian dictator’s black-shirted troops controlled the entire territory, and the war was over. The civilian and military death toll, estimated at 275,000, was so high that it was said Mussolini wanted Ethiopia with or without Ethiopians. Despite an eloquent plea by the bearded, diminutive Emperor Haile Selassie, the major powers did nothing. “It is us today,” the emperor told the Assembly of the League of Nations. “It will be you tomorrow.”
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“Those Who Do Not Think as We Do”


Tomorrow arrived sooner than anyone expected — and with shocking violence.


On July 17, 1936, the United Press office in London received a telegram from its bureau in Madrid that began: MOTHERS EVERLASTINGLY LINGERING ILLNESS LIKELY LARYNGITIS AUNT FLORA OUGHT RETURN EVEN IF GOES NORTH LATER EQUALLY GOOD IF ONLY NIGHT . . . The bizarre wording signaled that a correspondent was trying to evade suddenly imposed censorship. When his London colleagues strung together the first letter of each word, the message read: MELILLA FOREIGN LEGION REVOLTED MARTIAL LAW DECLARED.


Melilla was a city in the North African colony of Spanish Morocco. In a carefully coordinated uprising, hundreds of army officers commanding tens of thousands of troops were making a grab for power in that territory and in Spain itself. The nation was no stranger to military coups by an army notoriously top-heavy with generals, but this one was different, planned with unprecedented thoroughness, with orders discreetly dispatched across the country via a network of messengers in civilian clothes. The attempt to seize power would be carried out with a scorched-earth ferocity that Europeans had often wielded in colonial wars but that had seldom been seen in Europe itself since the Middle Ages. The code word signal to the officers to start the rising was “Covadonga”— the name of an eighth-century battle regarded as the beginning of the Reconquista, or reconquest of Spain from Muslims. The conspirators felt they had a similarly historic mission to reconquer the country from new rulers equally alien to them: the left-leaning government of the Popular Front.


In addition to Nazi Germany and Fascist Italy, many European countries, including Portugal, Poland, Greece, Lithuania, Romania, and Hungary, were under dictators, military rule, or regimes of the far right, most of them with a blatant streak of anti-Semitism. Spain, however, was a democracy, albeit a wobbly and imperfect one, born five years earlier with enormous hopes, at home and abroad, that the nation would at last join the modern age. An experiment with republican rule in the late nineteenth century had been short-lived. Only in 1931, amid street demonstrations and tumbled statues, had the king fled the country and centuries of monarchy and military strongmen been replaced by a Spanish Republic with an elected government, a new constitution, and the promise of far-reaching reform.


To the coterie of generals leading the new revolt, however, democracy itself was profoundly threatening and the victory of the Popular Front coalition in the latest election was anathema. They were convinced it would lead to a Spanish version of the Russian Revolution. The military rebels called themselves Nacionales, a term “rather stronger,” the historian Paul Preston explains, “in its connotations of ‘the only true Spaniards’ than the usual English rendition of ‘Nationalists.’”


Although not yet the revolt’s leader, a key plotter was General Francisco Franco. A cautious man, he had waited to join the planning for the coup until it appeared certain of success. In part to compensate for his short stature (five feet four inches), unmilitary potbelly, double chin, and high-pitched voice, he had early on earned a reputation for cool mastery of detail and iron discipline, even when it meant ordering disobedient soldiers shot.


Franco was widely regarded as the army’s most competent general. As the first director of the national military academy — which, to the army’s rage, the Republican government had shut down — he was well known to hundreds of younger officers. Ambitious and puritanical, an architect of the elite Spanish Foreign Legion, he was driven by a fierce belief that he was destined to save Spain from a deadly conspiracy of Bolsheviks, Freemasons, and Jews (no matter that King Ferdinand and Queen Isabella had expelled the latter from their realm in 1492, during the Inquisition, and that few had ever returned). The Popular Front government’s decision to dispatch him to the Canary Islands, and additional right-wing generals to other distant outposts, had been a disastrous mistake, for it merely allowed them to better conceal their plans for the uprising.


Most of the coup’s organizers had already spent much of their military lives in the colonies; they were Africanistas, veterans of bloody fighting in the 1920s against defiant Berbers in the mountainous Rif region of Spanish Morocco. Some had even been born in the colonies to army families. They thought of themselves as tough and battle-tested guardians of traditional Spanish values against both colonial rebels and the corruptions of the modern world. “Without Africa,” Franco declared, “I can hardly explain myself.”


These officers brought the colonizer’s mentality back to Spain: one prominent general contemptuously referred to impoverished Spanish peasants as “Rif tribesmen.” During the more than ten years he spent in Morocco, Franco himself had once proudly returned from an expedition against guerrillas with 12 severed heads. Other Africanistas fighting Moroccan rebels sometimes used bombs and artillery shells filled with deadly mustard gas, purchased from Germany after the end of the First World War. As Franco and his fellow conspirators now embarked on an equally brutal campaign to seize control of Spain, the most professional force at their command was the Army of Africa, which included the notorious Foreign Legion. Despite its name, the legion was mostly made up of Spaniards, many of them criminals whose sentences had been commuted in return for enlisting.


The larger share of the Army of Africa were Arab or Berber recruits, or Moors — moros, as Spaniards called them. Muslims, they were led by Spanish officers who told them that they would be fighting against infidels and Jews who wanted to abolish Allah. They would go into battle, ironically, alongside monarchist Spanish militiamen in red berets whose war cry was ¡Viva Cristo Rey! (“Long Live Christ the King!”)


With the help of sympathizers in London, the coup’s leaders hired a British airplane to secretly fly Franco from the Canaries to Spanish Morocco, where he took command of the Army of Africa. These more than 40,000 experienced troops were the plotters’ strongest force, but they were stranded in Morocco. Plans to swiftly transport them to Spain, where they could be the decisive factor in sweeping the Nationalists into power, were derailed when sailors on many Spanish naval vessels refused to join the rebels, killed some of their officers, and remained loyal to the Republic. The coup plotters were dismayed, for in Spain itself their attempt to seize control was running into unexpected resistance, while their best troops were marooned on the other side of the Mediterranean. Few aircraft were available to fly them to Spain because most of the Republic’s air force had refused to take part in the coup. What was to be done?


Franco promptly dispatched envoys to the two European leaders he was confident would help, Benito Mussolini and Adolf Hitler. The emissaries to Germany were received just after Hitler had attended a performance of Wagner’s Siegfried at the opera festival in Bayreuth. The Führer was wearing his brown storm-trooper’s uniform; the rest of his entourage, in evening dress, were kept waiting for their supper while he met with Franco’s representatives. They gave him a handwritten letter and map from the general. After several hours’ talk — much of it a monologue from Hitler, who was still annoyed that Spain had stayed neutral in the First World War — the dictator agreed to supply whatever Franco needed. He then summoned Air Marshal Hermann Göring and ordered him to send more planes than Franco had asked for.


Within a few days the first of them were on their way to Spanish Morocco, and soon they were ferrying Franco’s troops, and before long the general himself, across the Strait of Gibraltar to Spain. In a bow to the opera the senior Nazis had just watched, in which the fearless Siegfried passes heroically through flames to wake Brünnhilde from a deep sleep, the dispatch of German transport planes would be called Operation Magic Fire. For Hitler, resentful of being disdained by the Western democracies since he had come to power three and a half years earlier, it was a delight to have another country’s military ask for his aid.


Mussolini similarly agreed to help, eager to have himself, rather than Hitler, viewed as the Spanish Nationalists’ primary benefactor. This would give him a chance to expand Italy’s influence in the Mediterranean, which he sometimes referred to, echoing the Romans, as “our sea.” He dispatched a squadron of a dozen trimotor Savoia-Marchetti bombers, with one of the Nationalist envoys hitching a ride home in a tail-gunner’s turret.


Hitler sent more planes, however: 20 Junkers Ju-52s, three-engined workhorses nicknamed “Three Marías” by the Spanish, which doubled as bombers or transports, along with German pilots and mechanics. Although each aircraft’s nominal capacity was 17 passengers, once its seats were removed up to 40 heavily tattooed Foreign Legionnaires or Moors in flowing robes and turbans or red fezzes could be packed in, crouching in rows on the floor, knees pulled up to their chests. Many Moors had never seen a plane before, much less traveled on one. In a matter of days, flights ferried 15,000 troops to Seville, the jumping-off point for a Nationalist drive to the north. It was history’s first major military airlift. Without it, the coup might have been swiftly defeated.


High-ranking Nazis had crossed paths with the Spanish generals before the July uprising. Wilhelm Canaris, Hitler’s Spanish-speaking military intelligence chief, knew and liked Franco, who had toured military installations in Germany some years before. General José Sanjurjo, a key figure in the conspiracy, had visited Berlin with a small retinue in early 1936, staying at the elegant Hotel Kaiserhof, but exactly what he did or whom he saw remains unknown. Though Hitler himself apparently did not know of the coup in advance, it would prove a marvelous opportunity for him.


Portugal, a right-wing dictatorship conveniently next door to Spain, would also offer help and provide the launching ground for another Nationalist offensive. Some 8,000 Portuguese volunteered for Franco’s Foreign Legion, and their government let the Nationalists send convoys of troops and supplies from the port of Lisbon to the Spanish border, provided radios, munitions, and bases for Nationalist warplanes, and even handed over Republican refugees to be shot.


A shiver of terror ran through Spain, for the entire Nationalist campaign was designed to maximize bloodshed. In a foretaste of what Europe was to experience in years to come, commanders spoke of limpieza, or cleansing, as they ordered somber columns of captives in everyday clothes marched off with their hands in the air. Some firing squads operated at night, their victims lined up in the glare of car headlights. Trade union officials and Republican politicians, including 40 parliamentary deputies from the governing coalition, were bayoneted or shot, as were army officers who refused to take part in the conspiracy. For military dissenters, rank was no protection — seven generals and an admiral reluctant to join the coup were shot. Family ties were swept aside: when one officer would not allow the Nationalists to take over a military airfield, the order to execute him was approved by his first cousin and childhood playmate, General Franco.


If the targeting of those killed made no sense, as in Huesca, for example, where 100 supposed Freemasons were shot in a town where the order boasted less than a dozen members, it hardly mattered: the resulting panic still inspired fear. (Spanish Freemasons were in the plotters’ sights because they had long been anticlerical.) Such massacres happened everywhere, whether the advancing Nationalist forces met resistance or not.


“It is necessary to spread terror,” declared the Africanista General Emilio Mola, the coup’s initial leader. “We have to create the impression of mastery [by] eliminating without scruples or hesitation all those who do not think as we do. . . . Anyone who helps or hides a Communist or a supporter of the Popular Front will be shot.” Although Spanish Communists loomed large in right-wing propaganda, there were relatively few of them. Millions had supported the Popular Front, however. Mola’s orders were put into effect with chilling thoroughness. In the northern province of Navarre, one out of every ten Popular Front voters was summarily executed. An elderly Navarre priest who protested the killings had his head chopped off. Liberal or left-wing newspapers were shut down. Workers who went on strike faced the death penalty. Sometimes the nature of the terror varied sadistically according to the victim. In Cordova, where an imprisoned Socialist parliamentary deputy was diabetic, Nationalist jailers force-fed him sugar until he died.


One of the best known of “those who do not think as we do” was the poet and playwright Federico García Lorca, who had declared, “I will always be on the side of those who have nothing,” and who took his traveling theater company to the poorest of rural villages. He was shot in his hometown of Granada, along with an eventual total of some 5,000 others in that city alone. Overwhelmed by the mass of corpses, the caretaker of the local cemetery suffered a mental collapse and had to be committed to an asylum.


If you had taken part in any movement that wasn’t purely Spanish, whether it was vegetarianism, learning Esperanto, teaching in a Montessori school, or joining a Rotary club, you were immediately suspect. Just wearing a red necktie could be considered a sign of Communist leanings and cause for arrest. In León, one man was denounced by an informer for having attended a lecture on Darwin’s theory of evolution and asked questions that sounded knowledgeable; he was shot. In Mérida, a Nationalist officer identified targets for arrest by repeatedly walking one of his prisoners, a Republican doctor, around town and making note of who greeted him. Then he shot the doctor.


Within several weeks of the uprising, the Nationalists, aided by a generous flow of German and Italian arms and ammunition, had seized control of roughly one third of Spain, mainly in the country’s south and west. Their killings mounted into the tens of thousands, far outstripping anything Hitler or Mussolini had done when they took power. As gruesome warnings, bodies of slaughtered Republicans were left on streets, in plazas, and at crossroads. As would soon be clear, however, by no means was all of the killing done by the Nationalist rebels. Centuries of pent-up social tensions had erupted in a murderous fury.


Like millions of other people around the world, Bob and Marion Merriman were horrified at the news of Spain’s military coup and of one town after another falling to the Nationalists. At the Moscow Daily News, where she was reading proofs, employees contributed to a food relief fund for civilians in the Spanish Republic. Bob chafed that there seemed little more they could do. Their friend Louis Fischer, however, soon set off on a trip to Republican-held Spain. For journalists like him, the war had quickly become the biggest story on the Continent, and two months after the uprising began, he found himself plunged into reporting a struggle more “rich, thrilling and interesting” than he had ever known, in Russia or anywhere else. When he landed in Barcelona, he found workers with rifles slung on their backs running the airport; in Valencia, his next stop, people laughed when he asked for the bill at the airport canteen: for foreign comrades the food was free. He traveled onward by train to Madrid, passing a large gasoline storage tank belching black smoke after an air raid by German planes.


Despite such damage, Fischer, writing for the Nation and an assortment of European and American dailies, was encouraged by much that he saw. Although its fighter aircraft were obsolete biplanes, the Republican air force mounted raids on rebel strongholds, and the French novelist André Malraux organized a squadron of volunteer pilots from other countries. The plans of the coup plotters to instantly seize power throughout Spain had been stymied, and a long war would raise supply problems they had not stopped to consider. Where, for example, would the Nationalists get the oil to fuel their armies? Their allies Hitler and Mussolini were oil importers, not exporters.


Fischer stepped out of his reportorial role even more than usual to bombard politicians with advice. He wrote a long letter to the Republic’s prime minister: Why not stop all civilian construction and build an impregnable defense line 30 kilometers outside Madrid? Why not form partisan units to fight behind enemy lines? When he saw the foreign minister, he suggested that since the Nationalists held Spanish Morocco, the Republic “could proclaim its independence. That would make trouble for Franco among the Moors.” He also poured out a steady stream of suggestions to the Soviet ambassador, who, probably to get Fischer off his back, finally replied, “Write me a memo. I’ll send it to Moscow.”


Despite such encounters, Fischer’s diary reveals a man far different from the self-important correspondent he had been in the Soviet Union. In Spain, he was moved by the spectacle of a bountiful idealism, by a fervor that was not the product of propaganda, and by people who were risking their lives to save the country’s infant democracy. He also tasted the experience of combat for the first time when he covered an event making headlines all over the world: the siege of the Alcázar. In this fourteenth-century fortress in Toledo, Nationalist rebels had been holding out for two months against surrounding Republican forces.


Although the battle would end with a much-trumpeted victory for Franco, as a column of his troops fought its way into the fortress and relieved the 68-day siege, for Fischer it was a heady baptism of fire. Riding on the back of a tank in his tennis shoes, he accompanied Republican forces trying to capture the Alcázar. “I understood then how soldiers go over the top with zest and animal passion. There is something exhilarating in the combination of danger and muscular exertion.” In the middle of a firefight, the air filled with smoke and bullets, he joined two soldiers in carrying a bleeding comrade to a stretcher, and later helped move the man onto the operating table at a first-aid station. “Over his heart the wet red patch grew bigger and bigger. . . . [He] moaned for water. There was none available. Part of his knee had been shot away, and a piece of steel had cut into a rib.” His clothes stained with blood, Fischer had become one of the first, but not the last, of foreign reporters in Spain to cross the line from observer to participant.
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Many other American correspondents hastened to cover the war. New York Herald Tribune reporter John T. Whitaker for two months rented a room in the town of Talavera de la Reina in Nationalist-held territory as a base for trips to the front. It was within earshot of a cuartel, an army barracks. “I never passed a night there without being awakened at dawn by the volleys of the firing squads in the yard of the Cuartel.” Executions “averaged perhaps thirty a day. I watched the men they took into the Cuartel. They were simple peasants and workers.” Signs of more executions were everywhere. “You could find four old peasant women heaped in a ditch; thirty and forty militiamen at a time, their hands roped behind them, shot down at the crossroads. I remember a bundle in a town square. Two youthful members of the Republican assault guards had been tied back to back with wire, covered with gasoline and burned alive.”


Jay Allen of the Chicago Daily Tribune reported that a Moorish soldier had tried to sell him a human ear for one peseta. The story by Allen that attracted the most attention, however, was from Badajoz, near the border with Portugal and in a province where tens of thousands of farmworkers had occupied big estates under the Republic. The Nationalists now seized the region, and Republicans of various political parties, both militiamen and civilians, were marched into the city’s bullring. “Files of men, arms in the air. They were young, mostly peasants in blue blouses, mechanics in jumpers. . . . At 4 o’clock in the morning they were turned out into the ring through the gate by which the initial parade of the bullfight enters. There machine guns awaited them. . . . Eighteen hundred men — there were women, too — were mowed down there in some 12 hours. There is more blood than you would think in 1,800 bodies.” Three days later, Allen found the arena still covered by a layer of blackened, coagulated blood several inches thick. The Spanish war laid bare political divisions everywhere: Allen’s coverage of the atrocities in Badajoz so angered the archconservative owner of the Tribune, Colonel Robert McCormick, that he was fired.


In talking to foreign journalists, the Nationalists maintained no veneer of public relations. “Of course we shot them,” the commanding general at Badajoz told John T. Whitaker. “What do you expect? Was I supposed to take 4000 reds with me as my column advanced, racing against time?” Whitaker heard more of the same from Captain Gonzalo de Aguilera y Munro, Count of Alba de Yeltes, a press officer with a handlebar mustache. “You know what’s wrong with Spain?” he told the American reporter. “Modern plumbing! In healthier times — I mean healthier times spiritually, you understand — plague and pestilence could be counted on to thin down the Spanish masses. . . . Now with modern sewage disposal and the like they multiply too fast. The masses are no better than animals, you understand, and you can’t expect them not to become infected with the virus of bolshevism. After all, rats and lice carry the plague.” The count, a cavalryman and an ardent polo player, claimed that when the coup began, he lined up the workers on his estate and shot half a dozen of them just to show who was boss.


It was clear which classes backed the military rebellion. As Nationalist soldiers swore fealty to their cause by kissing the Spanish flag, they were blessed by bishops and cheered by elegantly dressed women in black lace mantillas. At another mass execution near Badajoz in front of a large crowd of spectators, a band played and a priest said Mass before the shots rang out. “Sons of landowners,” writes the historian Antony Beevor, “organized peasant hunts on horseback. This sort of activity was jokingly referred to as the ‘reforma agraria’ whereby the landless bracero was finally to get a piece of ground for himself.”


Ten weeks into the coup, with several potential rivals out of the way — one popular right-wing politician had been assassinated by leftists before the rising, another was in a Republican prison, and General Sanjurjo, slated to lead the march on Madrid, was killed in an airplane crash — the forty-three-year-old Franco became the revolt’s supreme leader. His diminutive, unprepossessing figure belied a boundless ambition and a quiet bureaucratic skill at outmaneuvering competitors. With a uniform bedecked with gold tassels, he took on the title of Generalissimo of the Nationalist armed forces, and then, at an elaborate ceremony whose guests included diplomats from Germany, Italy, and Portugal, head of state. (This startled several fellow generals, who thought they had merely elected him head of government — in most European countries these are separate positions.) His tightly controlled propaganda apparatus began referring to him as “Caudillo [Leader] by the grace of God.” Later, he would also name himself Captain-General, a rank previously held only by Spain’s monarchs. Throughout the Nationalist hierarchy, everyone flaunted symbols of rank and status: Franco himself donned a broad scarlet-and-gold sash on special occasions; officers of the General Staff wore one of blue and gold; and one senior general, a tough Africanista named José Varela, even kept his military medals pinned to the dressing gown he wore over his pajamas.
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